APRV 2/ 1991

REME COURT

Deputy Clerk

CLERK

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No.: 75,119 TFB No. 88-10,904 (1/2c)

v.

GRANVILLE H. CRABTREE,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Richard T. Earle, Jr., Esq. EARLE AND EARLE 150 Second Avenue North Suite 910 St.Petersburg, Fl 33701 (813) 898-4474 Attorney for Respondent

STATEMENT OF CASE

This is a Petition For Review of a Referee's Report recommending that the Respondent be found guilty of several violations of the Code of Professional Responsibility and that he be disbarred therefore.

The Florida Bar filed its Complaint to which the Respondent filed an Answer. The matter was tried before the Referee, who filed his report from which report this Petition For Review was timely filed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Statement of Facts and this entire Brief are very difficult to draft for the reasons that many of the Referee's Findings of Fact are not supported by substantial evidence and some of them are contrary to the uncontroverted evidence. In addition thereto, the Findings of Fact are incomplete in that they omit many of the uncontroverted facts which explain the Respondent's conduct and thus put it into proper perspective. It is therefore necessary to supplement the Findings of Fact of the Referee by showing relevant facts which are uncontroverted, while at the same time pointing out facts not supported by or contrary to competent and substantial evidence.

The events leading up to this disciplinary action occurred between the spring of 1980 and 1983. No Complaint was filed by any of the parties to the transaction. The Florida Bar, on its own initiative (TR-11/1, p.10) some time prior to December 7, 1987, began its investigation of the matter (Appendix 1). The Complaint and the Answer of the Respondent was tried before the Referee in November, 1990, ten years after the initial conduct had occurred and seven years after the transactions had concluded. In the interim, the witnesses', including the Respondent's, memories had dimmed and one of the prime witnesses, Mrs. VanAntwerp, because of cancer and other ailments, had greatly deteriorated physically (TR-11/9, Vol.2, p.19,20) Thus, many of the questions propounded to the Respondent elicited answers such as "I do not

recall, " or "To the best of my recollection."

Mrs. VanAntwerp was a client and close personal friend of the Respondent for several years prior to 1980 which relationship continued at all material times. (R.Report)

Prior to August 18, 1980, Mrs. VanAntwerp requested Respondent to repatriate from Europe one and-a-half million dollars of her assets in such a manner as not to disclose the source of said funds. (R.Report) There is no evidence in the record reflecting that Mrs. VanAntwerp had any illegal or improper motive in being so secretive. Reposing great trust and confidence in Respondent, Mrs. VanAntwerp left it up to his discretion as to the method of accomplishing this repatriation of assets.(R.Report)

Shortly prior to August 18, 1981, Robert Prine, a real estate developer, approached Respondent relative to forming a joint venture to purchase some raw acreage in Sarasota County (hereinafter referred to as "The Orange Grove") for the purpose of developing it and, as developed, selling lots therein to home builders. (TR-11/9, Vol.2, p.22-24). Prine and Respondent had been and were at that time joint venturers in other similar and successful projects and Respondent had confidence in Prine's abilities as a developer and marketer of developed real estate. (TR-11/9, Vol.2, p.11, 12, 13).

Other lawyers in the professional association of which Respondent was a member had represented corporations controlled by Prine and joint ventures of which Prine was a joint venturer, and had at one time prepared a Will for Prine. There is no evidence

that Prine was looking to the Respondent or the law firm for legal advice or guidance as to any aspect of the "Orange Grove" project, or that he sought the same.

Respondent did not believe it appropriate to directly transfer the repatriated European assets to Mrs. VanAntwerp's bank account in Sarasota because the sudden and unexplained appearance of one and-a-half million dollars would undoubtedly cause an inquiry and result in disclosure of the source thereof. (TR-11/9,Vol.2, p.17, 20, 21, 22) He, therefore, took a several pronged approach to the problem:

- 1. To disguise the source of the funds, he would place them into some legitimate United States business venture from which venture the money would ultimately be transferred to Mrs. VanAntwerp.(TR-11/9,Vol.2, p.21)
- 2. The money would be repatriated through a Bahamas Bank and into a Bahamas corporation (Braddock Investment Co., Inc.) and thence into Respondent's Trust account and into the United States business venture. (TR-11/9, Vol.2, p.15)
- 3. To separate himself directly from the investment of the funds, he would have a bookkeeper named Jerry Reed act as the agent, supposedly, for a group of ""European investor"s" who were in reality Mrs. VanAntwerp and her repatriated \$1,500,000.00.
- 4. Ultimately, the funds so repatriated and so invested would be drawn out of the venture and would be

paid to Mrs. VanAntwerp and the venture would appear to be the source of the funds. (TR-11/9, Vol.2, p.27).

The Orange Grove venture appeared to Respondent to be an appropriate U.S. business venture to utilize for the purposes above stated because:

- 1. Respondent had confidence in Prine's ability as a developer and marketer of real estate and the success of the Orange Grove venture. (TR-11/9, Vol.2, p.13).
- 2. The capital required for the venture was 1.4 million dollars which was approximately the amount to be repatriated.
- 3. He believed that the Orange Grove could be developed and sold or an acquisition and development loan could be obtained within one and-a-half years, so that Mrs. VanAntwerp would receive her assets within that relatively short time period. (TR-11/9, Vol.2, p.22-24).

On August 18, 1980, the Respondent wrote a letter to Mrs. VanAntwerp (Bar Exhibit 2). This letter is somewhat circuitous for the reason that Respondent did not want to record the exact nature of the Orange Grove transaction, because to do so would disclose the true source of Mrs. VanAntwerp's funds which were utilized. However, this letter reflects that:

- 1. The Orange Grove would be purchased for 1.4 million dollars, payable \$400,000.00 in December, 1980 and the balance in January, 1981.
 - 2. Respondent, Prine, and Mrs. VanAntwerp would be

co-venturers, each having a one-third interest in the venture and its profits.

- 3. A possible source of the purchase price would be through J. Reed, who represented "a European investment group known as Braddock Investment Co." which might want a participation in the joint venture or might be willing to lend it the money necessary to purchase the property without a participation.
- 4. The title to the Orange Grove would be taken in name of Respondent as Trustee.
- 5. Mrs. VanAntwerp would borrow \$400,000.00 from SouthEast First National Bank in Sarasota to make the initial payment on the purchase.
- 6. Mrs. Van Antwerp would be reimbursed for her investment within 18 months from acquisition of the property.

This letter is the original basis for the transactions here involved, when the term ""European investor"s" or "European investment group" is construed to mean Mrs. VanAntwerp.

This letter to Mrs. VanAntwerp shows a carbon copy to Prine. Respondent testified that Mrs. VanAntwerp received the original and a copy was mailed to Prine. Neither Prine nor Mrs. VanAntwerp denied that they received the same although both in 1990, ten years later, had no recollection thereof.

Mrs. VanAntwerp borrowed \$400,000.00 from SouthEast First National Bank which money was used for the down payment on the

Orange Grove in December, 1980 and title was taken in Respondent as Trustee. The balance of the purchase price was evidenced by a promissory note due January 26, 1981 secured by a purchase money mortgage.

From the very outset of this project, it was contemplated that once the title to the Orange Grove was acquired, plans would be drawn for the development of the land and the land subdivided into lots. With the plans, and the land subdivided, the joint venture could enter into a contract with a builder to buy a substantial number of lots when developed. Armed with the title to the property, the plans for development and the contract with a builder to buy a substantial number of lots, the joint venture could secure an acquisition and development loan from a commercial lender which would cover all costs of acquisition of the title and the development of the property. (TR-11/9-Vol.2, p.21, 22, 23, 24). At that point, the joint venture could refund to Mrs. VanAntwerp all moneys that she had invested in the joint venture, thus completing the repatriation of her funds.

Respondent and Reed, a bookkeeper who, from time to time kept the books for various ventures in which Respondent had an interest, went to the Bahamas and caused Braddock Investment Company to be incorporated there and made arrangements for the transfer of one and-a-half million dollars from the European source to Roy West Trust Corporation Ltd., a Bahamian bank, and from Roy West to Morgan Guaranty and Trust Company, a Bahamian bank, for the benefit of Braddock Investment Co. and thence to the Respondent's trust

account to be used to fully fund the joint venture's purchase of the Orange Grove. (TR-11/9, Vol.2, p.16, 28, 29, 30).

On January 26, 1981, in order to memorialize the plan of Respondent, Prine and Mrs. VanAntwerp in the joint venture after her contribution of the additional one million five hundred thousand dollars, Respondent and Reed prepared a letter to the Respondent (Bar Exhibit 8). (TR-11/9, Vol.2, p. 37, 38). This letter can only be understood if it is recognized that the ""European investor"s" are Mrs. VanAntwerp. This letter to Respondent, in effect, states that:

- Reed had a group of "European investors" who were interested in joint venturing with a U.S. real estate developer land located in Florida.
- 2. A million and-a-half dollars was needed from the "European investors" for the purpose of satisfying all mortgages on the property before the joint venture would "commence the process of obtaining a loan for development of the property."
- 3. The "European investors" would contribute the funds as a part of a joint venture from which it would receive a negotiated percentage of the profits.

On January 27, 1981, Crabtree wrote Prine (Bar exhibit 8) enclosing a copy of the letter of January 26 signed by Reed (Bar Exhibit 7). Prine did not remember receiving this letter, but did not deny receipt thereof.

On January 29, 1981, Crabtree wrote Reed (Bar Exhibit 9)

enclosing, among other things, a proposed joint venture agreement between Crabtree as Trustee for the joint venture consisting of Respondent, Prine, and Mrs. VanAntwerp, and Reed as Trustee for the "European investors" (Bar Exhibit 11). The joint venture agreement attached to said letter provided, among other things, that:

- 1. The joint venture would subdivide and develop the Orange Grove for the purpose of selling the subdivided lots to lot purchasers.
- 2. Reed & Associates would provide one and-a-half million dollars for the acquisition and development of the property.
- 3. Crabtree would take all necessary steps to secure an acquisition and development loan for the purpose of developing the property.
- 4. No net profits from the development and sale of the property would be disbursed until all funds furnished by Reed's investors for the acquisition and development of the property, had been reimbursed.
- 5. The net profits of the venture would be divided;
 50 percent to Crabtree, Prine and VanAntwerp, and 50
 percent to Reed & Associates for the benefit of the
 "European Investors."

Said joint venture agreement was signed by Respondent and Reed. A copy of said letter and joint venture agreement was sent to Prine, who did not remember it but did not deny that he received it.

The planned procedure was utilized so that in February, 1981, the million and-a-half dollars approximately was deposited in Respondent's trust account in two installments -- one payment of approximately \$1,100,000.00 and a subsequent payment of \$395,000.00. Said funds were used to pay off the purchase money mortgage on the Orange Grove Property, to pay the \$400,000.00 loan that Mrs.VanAnterp had secured from SouthEast First National Bank, and to pay certain commissions, attorneys fees, and costs incurred in the transaction.

On February 12, 1981, Respondent wrote Mrs. VanAntwerp advising her that he had received one million one hundred dollars which was used for the retirement of the outstanding note and mortgage encumbering the Orange Grove held by Mr. Massey to which letter was attached a copy of the closing statement reflecting the disbursement of said funds. Said letter further advised her that as soon as he received the remaining \$400,000.00 he would retire her bank loan (Bar Exhibit 12). A copy was sent to Prine who did not remember it, but did not deny that he received it.

On February 23, 1981, Respondent wrote Prine advising him that the \$400,000.00 loan to Mrs. VanAntwerp had been fully paid and that he was holding title to the property as Trustee "for the benefit of you, Mrs. VanAntwerp, and myself, as to one-third owners of one-half interest pursuant to the joint venture agreement with the "European investors" (Bar Exhibit 13). Prine did not remember

receiving this letter, but did not deny that he received it.

On March 30, 1981, Respondent wrote Prine (Bar Exhibit 14). This letter is noteworthy for it is the beginning of the next step toward delivering to Mrs. VanAntwerp her 1.5 million dollars which had been repatriated. Thus, Mr. Crabtree stated, "We may wish to proceed with the option of trying to sell the property or determining whether or not there is a market for development purposes. In the event of a development potential, perhaps we should determine who would like to stay in the project or those who would prefer to receive their funds at this time as a profit."

Inasmuch as only Mrs. VanAntwerp (the "European investors") had any funds in the project, Respondent was obviously indicating that Mrs. VanAntwerp might well desire her money back.

Mrs. VanAntwerp could make a profit on the initial \$400,000.00 she had borrowed and invested because disclosure of this profit would not disclose the source of the \$1,500,000.00. She wanted to make no profit out of the \$1,500.000.00 invested because a profit on this investment would reveal the investment itself, and its source. Thus, it was necessary, initially, to provide for a profit to the "European investor" so as to give the appearance of a legitimate business transaction, but it was also necessary to subsequently have the "European investor" waive all profit from the investment and to, in some manner, justify this waiver.

On April 1, Reed, with the assistance of Respondent, wrote a letter to Crabtree (Bar Exhibit 15). This letter is the next step in delivering to Mrs. VanAntwerp her funds out of the joint venture

without any profit. This letter states that:

- 1. Reed's "European investors" deemed their investment in Florida real estate ill-advised.
- 2. "Accordingly," the "European investors" requested to negotiate a settlement whereby they would be entitled to a guarantee of the return of the \$1,500,000.00 at the earliest possible time.
- 3. "The European investors" would no longer be coventurers with Respondent, Prine, and VanAntwerp. They would be limited to recouping their one and-a-half million dollars.

The purpose of this letter was to establish a legitimate reason for the "European investors" waiving all profits from the transaction.

A copy of this letter was mailed to Prine who did not remember seeing it, but did not deny it was received.

On April 3, 1981, Respondent wrote Reed (Bar Exhibit 17).

This letter in effect agreed with the proposals in the April 1

letter signed by Reed. In this letter, Crabtree stated:

- 1. Out of the proceeds from sale or development of the Orange Grove, Reed's investors would receive the first one and-a-half million dollars before any distribution of profits to the developers.
- 2. Reed's investors would relinquish all rights under the joint venture agreement to any profits and to any interest on the moneys which they contributed "Notwithstanding the duration of time necessary between

the date of this letter of agreement and the date on which my clients have satisfied the obligations hereinabove numerated and have distributed the sum of \$1,500,000.00 to your investors." (Bar Exhibit 17)

3. In consideration of the waiver of interest and profits, the original joint venturers in effect released the "European investors" from any liability for breach of contract.

This letter was in form an agreement between Reed and Respondent as Trustees.

On April 3, 1981, Crabtree wrote Prine advising him of the letter of April 1 addressed to Respondent and signed by Reed and advising Prine of his letter of April 3 to Reed, enclosing a copy thereof. This letter of April 3 to Prine contains the following statement:

"I have received a letter today from the European investment group which was somewhat of a surprise. I am enclosing a copy of that letter for you which is dated April 1, 1981."

The groundwork for this letter was laid in the letter of March 30, 1981 from Crabtree to Prine when he suggested that "we should determine who would like to stay in the project, or those that would prefer to receive their funds at this time as a profit." Characterizing it as "a surprise" was simply window dressing to make the entire transaction plausible to strangers to the transaction.

On April 17, 1981, Reed, with the assistance of Crabtree, drafted and delivered to Crabtree the letter of the same date, enclosing the letter agreement which had been executed by Reed. (TR-11/9, Vol.2, pps.43-55).

On April 20, 1981, Crabtree wrote Prine advising him of the then status of the matter.

In connection with the sale of the Orange Grove property to Mr. Saunders, the Referee found, among other things:

"....I find that Respondent violated DR 1-102(a)(4),

(A lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation). I find that the series of letters written to Mr. Prine was an intentional misrepresentation. Also, Respondent's dealings herein were fraudulent, dishonest, deceitful, and constitute misrepresentation. Respondent misled Mr. Prine regarding the European investor account.....

"I also find that the aforementioned misrepresentations to Mr. Prine were done to freeze Mr. Prine out of the Orange Grove property."

The letters did not have the effect of "freezing" or contributing to "freezing" Prine out of the Orange Grove. As a result of said letters, the original joint venture of Crabtree, Prine, and VanAntwerp continued on as the only joint venture with each joint venture entitled to one-third of the total profits from the venture.

Unfortunately, the real estate market for undeveloped lots had

deteriorated, while at the same time interest rates had increased enormously. As a result of the deterioration of the real estate market, acquisition and development loans from commercial lenders became extremely difficult to secure, and the increase in the interest rates made it impractical to secure such loans, even if available. (TR-11/9, Vol.2, p. 55, 56).

It became apparent that an acquisition and development loan could not be obtained and that in order to reimburse Mrs. VanAntwerp for her one and-a-half million dollars within the 18 months time period set out in Crabtree's letter of August 18, 1980 (Bar Exhibit 2) it would be necessary to sell the Orange Grove. Thus, in early 1982, the Respondent approached Neil Saunders about Saunders purchasing the Orange Grove. (R.Report)

The uncontroverted evidence reflects that Saunders was engaged in the business of acquiring parcels of real property for some Canadian investors he represented, one of whom was a Mr. Levy. Saunders believed that Mr. Levy or some other investors would join with him in a joint venture to develop and market the Orange Grove property. (Saunders Depo-pps. 6, 7, 8, 13, 14, 15, 30, 37). To that end, Saunders contracted to purchase the Orange Grove property from Respondent as Trustee for \$1,800,000.00 which would be payable approximately \$850,000.00 in cash at the closing, and the balance of \$950,000.00 to be evidenced by a promissory note payable to Respondent as Trustee which note was to be secured by a second mortgage on the Orange Grove property. Saunders made arrangements to borrow from Horizon Mortgage Corporation the sum of \$950,000.00

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