### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

NAY 18 1991

CLERK, SURREME COURT.

By Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Case No. 75,119

Complainant/Appellee,

TFB No. 88-10,904(12C)

v.

GRANVILLE H. CRABTREE,

Respondent/Appellant.

### AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF

OF

### THE FLORIDA BAR

David R. Ristoff
Branch Staff Counsel
The Florida Bar
Suite C-49
Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel
Tampa, FL 33607
(813) 875-9821
Florida Bar No. 358576

Bonnie L. Mahon
Assistant Staff Counsel
The Florida Bar
Suite C-49
Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel
Tampa, Fl 33607
(813) 875-9821
Florida Bar No. 376183

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Respondent's Initial Brief presents several arguments alleging that the Referee's Findings of Facts and recommendations of guilt are erroneous; that the aggravating factor regarding Respondent's prior disciplinary offense should not have been considered by the Referee; and that delay by the Bar should have been considered by the Referee as a mitigating factor.

The Referee found that Respondent engaged in a business transaction (joint venture) with two of his clients, Robert Prine and Marjorie VanAntwerp. The Referee also found that the Respondent engaged in a scheme to freeze Robert Prine out of the transaction and to utilize Marjorie VanAntwerp's European funds for his own personal gain.

The evidence in this case showed that the Respondent froze Robert Prine out of The Orange Grove Property transaction for his own benefit once Mr. Prine was no longer beneficial to the joint venture by virtue of the fact that Mr. Prine's contact, Ryan Homes, was no longer interested in or able to purchase lots developed on the property.

A Summary of the Facts which support the Referee's finding that Respondent used Mrs. VanAntwerp funds for his own benefit are as follows:

- a. The Respondent did not invest any of his personal funds into The Orange Grove Property;
- b. Between October 1980 and September 1984 Mrs. VanAntwerp invested approximately \$2,549,025.00 into The Orange Grove Property;
- c. From October 1980 through July 1983,

Mrs. VanAntwerp did not receive any interest on her total investment of approximately \$2,549,025.00 except for the one year worth of interest she received on the \$950,000.00 note and mortgage from Neil Saunders, trustee;

- d. The Respondent and or his law firm received attorney fees in excess of \$110,000.00 for legal matters regarding The Orange Grove Property; and
- e. The Respondent personally received real estate commissions in excess of \$45,000.00.

The evidence in this case clearly showed that, in essence, the only benefit that Mrs. VanAntwerp received from her investment in The Orange Grove Property was the repatriation into the U.S. of 1.5 million dollars and \$66,000.00 of profit in April 1982. On the other hand, she lost interest on approximately 2.5 million dollars over a 3 1/2 year period of time and, in addition, she lost \$649,000.00 that she invested in September 1984.

The Referee's findings of facts are presumed to be correct and it is the Respondent's burden to demonstrate that the Report of Referee is erroneous, unlawful or unjustified. The Respondent has failed to rebut the presumption of correctness. The facts in this case, taken as a whole, clearly support not only the Referee's Findings of Facts, but also his recommendation of guilt and thus the same should be upheld.

The Respondent's argument that the Referee should not have considered Respondent's prior disciplinary offense as an aggravating factor is without significance since disbarment is the appropriate discipline for Respondent's misconduct notwithstanding Respondent's prior disciplinary record.

The Respondent's argument that the Referee should have considered The Bar's delay in prosecuting this case as a mitigating factor is without merit. Contrary to Respondent's argument, the disciplinary proceedings were delayed in part as a result of an illness suffered by Respondent's Counsel. The Bar prosecuted this case through the Final Hearing in less than three (3) years. Three years is not an unreasonable period of time in light of the convoluted facts in this case.

The Florida Bar respectfully requests that this Court approve the Referee's Findings of Facts, recommendations of guilt and the recommended discipline of disbarment.

### FIRST POINT INVOLVED

The Respondent has challenged the Referee's Findings of Fact and recommendations of guilt and discipline. It is well settled that a Referee's findings of fact will be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous or without support in the evidence. The Florida Bar v. Vannier, 498 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1986). The Florida Bar v. Wagner, 212 So.2d 770 (Fla. 1968). The Findings of Fact herein are based upon clear and convincing evidence and should be explain away all Respondent attempts to misconduct under the guise of repatriating 1.5 million dollars on However, the Referee obviously behalf of Mrs. VanAntwerp. rejected the Respondent's rendition of the facts as being totally unworthy of belief. The Referee's rejection of the Respondent's testimony was justified in light of the numerous contradictory and evasive statements made by the Respondent during the Final Hearing in this cause. A cursory review of Respondent's testimony clearly and convincingly supports the Respondent's lack of credibility.

The Referee had the opportunity to observe the demeanor and credibility of the witnesses in this case and simply and logically chose to find that Respondent engaged in a series of dealings that involved dishonesty, deceit, fraud, and misrepresentation.

Respondent's Initial Brief stated that "Mrs. VanAntwerp requested Respondent to repatriate from Europe one and-a-half million dollars of her assets...". (Emphasis added by The Bar). (Initial Brief p.3, paragraph 2). Respondent erroneously cited to the Report of Referee in support of this statement. The

Report of Referee instead stated that "... Mrs. VanAntwerp hired the Respondent to repatriate funds into the United States...".

(RR. p.1, paragraph II).

While The Bar agrees that Respondent was retained by Mrs. VanAntwerp to repatriate funds into the United States, there is no evidence to establish that 1.5 million dollars was the agreed upon amount from the inception. To the contrary, Respondent initially sought \$400,000.00 from Mrs. VanAntwerp for the down payment needed to acquire the Orange Grove Property. Respondent advised Mrs. VanAntwerp by letter dated August 18, 1980, that he intended to seek financing for those funds between \$400,000.00 and the 1.4 million dollars needed to acquire the property. (R. Bar Exhibit 2).

Respondent concocted an after-the-fact defense by asserting that all of his sham letters and fraudulent conduct were intended to effectuate the repatriation of her 1.5 million dollars. It is an amazing coincidence that the amount needed by the Respondent for the acquisition of The Orange Grove Property was the same amount to be repatriated by Mrs. VanAntwerp. To coroborate this defense, Respondent testified at the Final Hearing regarding the source of the financing for the amounts between \$400,000.00 and 1.4 million dollars as follows:

Bar Counsel: Did you envision looking to other sources for those funds?

Respondent: Basically to Mrs. VanAntwerp because that was her desire. (TR.I, p.39, L.6-9).

However, Respondent's deposition testimony was critically different. When questioned at the Final Hearing about his deposition testimony, Respondent was asked:

Bar Counsel: Do you have a recollection of whether or not you were going to look to Mrs. VanAntwerp for the entire one point four million.

Respondent: Only if we didn't place the funds elsewhere. We would talk, we would have done that and that was obviously broached and it did subsequently happen that way. (Emphasis added).

(TR.I, p.39, L.17-23)

The Referee found in that regard that "Respondent was dishonest with Mrs. VanAntwerp in his representation of her in the repatriation of her funds in that he used her funds in obtaining The Orange Grove project for his own purposes". (RR. p.3, paragraph III).

Respondent's August 18, 1980 letter (R. Bar Exhibit 2) to Mrs. VanAntwerp was clearly designed to commit a fraud upon Mrs. VanAntwerp as well as Mr. Prine. The letter was filled with the following total fabrications. First, the letter advised of the acquisition of the Orange Grove property as a vehicle to acquire the Gulfstream Property in a section 1031 like/kind exchange. If the Orange Grove property had been acquired, developed, and sold to Ryan Homes as envisioned by Respondent, there would have been nothing left to transfer in a like/kind exchange.

The August 18, 1980 letter (R. Bar Exhibit 2) also sets forth that a source for financing the acquisition of The Orange Grove Property would be through "a mortgage broker with J. Reed who has represented some European investor groups". Jerry Reed was an individual that worked part-time for the Respondent doing bookkeeping on the Respondent's personal business ventures. Mr. Reed was not sophisticated in business matters. In addition, Mr. Reed was not a mortgage broker nor was he associated with a mortgage broker. Further, as of August 18, 1980, Mr. Reed had not represented any "European investor Groups". (TR.I. p.47, L.4-15, p.85, L.19-20). Mrs. VanAntwerp was the only "European investor". (TR.II, p.76, L.11-17).

Neither Mrs. VanAntwerp nor Mr. Prine recalled ever receiving the August 18, 1980 letter. (TR.II, p.32, L.15-21, p.3; TR.III, p.6, L.10-16). As evidence of their failure to receive the August 18, 1980 letter, neither was aware of the other's participation in the joint venture relating to The Orange Grove Property. (TR.II, p.33, L.1-17; TR.III, p.6, L.25, p.7, L.1-7). In addition, Mrs. VanAntwerp was not aware of Respondent's ownership interest in The Orange Grove Property. (TR.III, p.9, L.7-10).

If the August 18, 1980 letter were simply a ruse for third persons, as submitted by Respondent, whose existence was being concealed? Mrs. VanAntwerp was clearly identified as the source of the initial \$400,000.00 down payment.

At the time Respondent created the joint venture with Mr. Prine and Mrs. VanAntwerp, both were clients of his law firm. It was readily admitted by Respondent that Mrs. VanAntwerp was a

close friend and client. (TR.I, p.17, L.10-16). In fact, Respondent categorized their relationship as "very close". (TR.I, p.22, L.21). Mr. Prine was also a client of Respondent's law firm. (TR.I, p.107, L.20 and TR.II, p.6, L.7). The Referee specifically found that "Mr. Prine was a client of Respondent individually and of Respondent's law firm at all times material herein". (RR. p.1, Paragraph II).

On October 3, 1980, Mr. Prine, as trustee, entered into a purchase agreement with Mr. Massey, as seller, for the sale of The Orange Grove Property. The Respondent's law firm was the escrow agent for the sale. (R. Bar Exhibit 1).

The purchase price for the property was 1.4 million dollars. The sale of The Orange Grove Property was completed on December 1, 1980. A loan for \$400,000.00 was obtained by Mrs. VanAntwerp for the down payment. A mortgage and note for \$986,656.50 to Mr. Massey was signed by Respondent, as trustee, with no personal liability on the note. (R. Bar Exhibit 1 and 4; TR.IV, p.26, L.4-8).

Respondent received \$4,000.00 in legal fees from the aforementioned sale. Respondent's receipt of \$4,000.00 contrary to the alleged joint venture agreement. Respondent was to receive a one-third interest in the joint venture consideration for his efforts to secure financing as well as his (TR.II, p.37, L.1-5).Respondent had legal services. no explanation as to what services were rendered in consideration of the \$4,000.00 legal fee. (TR.I, p.60, L.7-12). Mrs. VanAntwerp not aware that Respondent had taken attorney fees or

commissions relative to The Orange Grove Property. (TR.III, p.9, L.13-16).

Respondent also received one-half (1/2) of the real estate commission to Suncoast Development, with Respondent's share of the commission being \$20,983.32. Neither Mr. Prine nor Mrs. VanAntwerp were aware of the other's part in this venture (RR. p.2, Paragraph II). On two (2) occasions during the Final Hearing Respondent intially denied sharing the commission fees with Mr. Prine. (TR.I, p.62, L.10-13 and L.21-25). was then impeached with his May 5, 1982 letter to Mr. Prine wherein it stated "Essentially my records indicate the following: SunCoast Development Corporation Commissions paid to leaving you amount divided an \$41,967.44, which we \$20,983.32". (R. Bar Exhibit 26). After being shown Bar Exhibit 26, Respondent was again asked whether he divided with Prine those commissions from SunCoast Development. testified, "I think you could conversely say he divided them with me...". (TR.I, p.63, L.12-16). Respondent's explanation for the sharing of funds with Mr. Prine was as follows:

My receipt of funds from Mr. Prine was based upon an agreement that he had and I had regarding work that he put in and the work that I put in we'd both receive the same amount of money no matter what they were, except he would receive extra stuff for extra he did, and I would receive monies from my firm for the legal services. (TR.I, p.62, L.14-20).

Respondent's reference to funds received from Mr. Prine being based upon an agreement between Respondent and Mr. Prine illustrates a complete disregard for his fiduciary duty to Mrs. VanAntwerp. Mrs. VanAntwerp provided the \$400,000.00 needed for

the down payment of The Orange Grove Property. Respondent, on the other hand, as of December 1, 1980 provided no cash nor any capital contributions to the joint venture. (TR.I, p.72, L.4-20). Yet, Respondent's fees were in excess of \$24,000.00 as of December 1, 1980. (R. Bar Exhibt 3). At the Final Hearing, Respondent was asked to describe those services provided to the joint venture (in consideration for the \$24,000.00) that were separate and distinct from those services provided to the joint venture (in consideration for his one-third (1/3) interest in the joint venture). Respondent was unable to differentiate between those services provided by him in consideration for his one-third (1/3) interest in the joint venture and those services that were attributable to the \$24,000.00 in fees. (TR.I, p.75, L.1-25, p.76, L.1-25, p.77, L.1-25, p.78, L.1-13).

On January 27, 1981, Respondent corresponded with Mr. Prine (R. Bar Exhibit 7) and attached a letter dated Janaury 26, 1981 (R. Bar Exhibit 8) from Mr. Reed to Respondent. The January 26, 1981 correspondence from Mr. Reed was written on the letterhead Brown, Mendenhall of Brown, Mendenhall, and Williams. Williams incorporated for Mr. Reed by Mr. Sanchez, was Respondent's law partner (TR.I, p.110, L.16-18). The January 26, 1981 correspondence was, in fact, drafted by Respondent, and addressed to himself (TR.IV, p.37, L.7-10 and TR.II, p.78, L.23). The January 26, 1981 letter also provided, in part, as follows:

"I have spoken with a group of European Investors who have expressed an interest in...acquiring and developing property located in Florida. (Emphasis added by The Bar). Inasmuch as the investors with whom I have spoken believe that their monies will

rate of greater return co-venturing with a developer rather than by taking the posture of a creditor, they would prefer to contribute the funds as part of a joint venture agreement in which they will negotiated percentage of receive a profits, from the development, after the property has been subdivided and However, they are not particularly interested taking title to the property in any fashion, rather, they would simply prefer that you execute an agreement in which their rights and responsibilities are documented in unrecorded agreement whereby investors agree to distribute to them, upon the completion of the lot sales of the development, a percentage of the profits; provided you are able to demonstrate to me and to these European Investors that said profits will reflect an attractive rate of return on their investment." (Emphasis added) (R. Bar Exhibit 8).

Respondent testified that the purpose of the January 26, 1981 correspondence was to provide "a means of documentation...if any other source wanted to look at these business as venture...". (TR.IV, p.38, L.4-7).However, the letter was factually boqus in that Mrs. VanAntwerp's repatriated funds were sufficient to acquire The Orange Grove Property, but clearly not adequate to also develop the property. In addition, in order to demonstrate to the "European Investors" (Mrs. VanAntwerp) that the investors would receive an attractive rate of return on their investment, Respondent provided Mr. Reed with the financial statements of himself, Mr. Prine and Mrs. VanAntwerp. (R. Bar Exhibit 9). The Respondent provided Mrs. VanAntwerp, "European Investor" with a copy of her own financial statement to deceive Mrs. VanAntwerp, Mr. Prine or both.

Thereafter, Respondent used Jerry Reed to act as trustee on

behalf of Mrs. VanAntwerp to bring 1.5 million dollars into the United States. On January 29, 1981, the Respondent, as trustee, entered into a joint venture agreement (R. Bar Composite Exhibit 11) with Jerry Reed, as trustee for a group of "investors" (Mrs. VanAntwerp). Mr. Reed's "investors" (Mrs. VanAntwerp) agreed to invest 1.5 million dollars into the project in return for fifty (50%) percent of the future profits. The Respondent's principals (respondent, Mr. Prine, and Mrs. VanAntwerp) would share in the remaining fifty (50%) percent of the profits. (RR. p.2, Paragarph II; R. Bar Composite Exhibit 11).

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